

RIBA



Charter and Byelaws

11 March 2020

**The Royal Charter
Supplemental Charter
and Byelaws**

The Royal Institute of British Architects

The Charter 1837

(as amended by Supplemental Charters dated 7 March 1887 and 10 February 1971)

William the Fourth by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Ireland King Defender of the Faith **To all to whom these Presents shall come Greeting Whereas** Our Right Trusty and Right Welbeloved Cousin and Councillor **Thomas Philip Earl De Grey** hath by his Petition humbly represented unto us That he and divers other of our loving subjects have associated together for the purpose of forming an Institution for the general advancement of Civil Architecture and for promoting and facilitating the acquirement of the knowledge of the various Arts and Sciences connected therewith It being an Art esteemed and encouraged in all enlightened nations as tending greatly to promote the domestic convenience of Citizens and the Public improvement and embellishment of Towns and Cities and have subscribed and paid considerable sums of money for those purposes and have formed a collection of Books and Works of Art and have established a Correspondence with Learned and Scientific Men in Foreign Countries for the purpose of Inquiry and Information upon the subject of the said art And that they have been advised that the object of their undertaking would be more effectually attained were the same to receive our Royal Sanction and Confirmation and they have besought us to grant to them and to those who shall hereafter become Members of the same Society our Royal Charter of Incorporation for the purposes aforesaid **Now know ye** That we being desirous of encouraging a design so laudable and salutary of our especial grace certain knowledge and mere motion **Have** willed granted and declared and **Do** by these presents for us our heirs and successors will grant and declare That the said Thomas Philip Earl De Grey and such others of our loving subjects as have formed themselves into and are now Members of the said Society or who shall at any time hereafter become Members thereof according to such Regulations or Bye Laws as shall be hereafter framed or enacted shall by virtue of these presents be the Members of and form one Body Politic and Corporate for the purposes aforesaid by the name of “ **The Institute of British Architects** ” by which name they shall have perpetual succession and a Common Seal with full power and authority to alter vary break and renew the same at their discretion and by the same name to sue and be sued implead and be impleaded answer and be answered unto in every Court of us our heirs and successors

In Witness whereof We have caused these our Letters to be made Patent **Witness** Ourself at our Palace at Westminster the Eleventh day of January in the Seventh Year of Our Reign.

By Writ of Privy Seal

Edmunds

Supplemental Charter dated 10 February 1971

(as amended on 5 November 2002, 7 February 2007 and 11 March 2020)

ELIZABETH THE SECOND by the Grace of God of the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and of Our other Realms and Territories Queen, Head of the Commonwealth, Defender of the Faith:

TO ALL TO WHOM THESE PRESENTS SHALL COME, GREETING!

WHEREAS Thomas Philip Earl de Grey by a Petition to His Majesty King William the Fourth did humbly represent that he and other persons had associated together for the purpose of forming an Institution for the general advancement of Civil Architecture and for promoting and facilitating the acquirement of the knowledge of the various Arts and Sciences connected therewith, and that the object of their undertaking would be more effectively attained were the same to receive Royal Sanction and Confirmation:

AND WHEREAS His Majesty King William the Fourth being desirous of encouraging a design so laudable and salutary did by Royal Charter dated the eleventh day of January in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and thirty-seven constitute the persons described therein a body politic and corporate by the name of "The Institute of British Architects" with perpetual succession and a Common Seal:

AND WHEREAS Her Majesty Queen Victoria on the eighth day of August one thousand eight hundred and thirty-seven did consent to become the Patron of the said Institute, and did afterwards annually grant and confer at the recommendation of the said Institute a Royal Gold Medal for the promotion of Architecture:

AND WHEREAS Her Majesty Queen Victoria on the eighteenth day of May one thousand eight hundred and sixty-six did command that the said Institute should thenceforth be styled "The Royal Institute of British Architects":

AND WHEREAS further powers and privileges were granted to the Royal Institute by Supplemental Charters dated the twenty-eighth day of March one thousand eight hundred and eighty-seven, the eleventh day of January one thousand nine hundred and nine and the eleventh day of March one thousand nine hundred and twenty-five:

AND WHEREAS the last above-mentioned Supplemental Charter did also contain provisions for rendering effective the amalgamation of the Society of Architects with the Royal Institute:

AND WHEREAS the Royal Institute has presented unto Us an humble Petition praying that We should be graciously pleased to grant it a further Supplemental Charter:

NOW THEREFORE KNOW YE that We by virtue of Our Prerogative Royal in that behalf and of all other powers enabling Us so to do have of Our especial grace, certain knowledge and mere motion granted and declared and do hereby for Us, Our Heirs and Successors grant and declare as follows:

1. Definitions and interpretation

1.1 In this Supplemental Charter, unless the context requires otherwise, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

Term	Meaning
1.1.1	<p>“Board of Trustees” and “Board” the board of trustees of the RIBA referred to in Article 7 and as constituted from time to time in accordance with the Byelaws;</p>
1.1.2	<p>“Byelaws” the Byelaws made in accordance with Article 10, as amended from time to time;</p>
1.1.3	<p>“Charity Commission” the Charity Commission for England and Wales;</p>
1.1.4	<p>“Connected” means any person falling within one of the following categories:</p> <p>(a) any spouse, civil partner, parent, child, brother, sister, grandparent or grandchild of a Trustee or Council Member (as applicable);</p> <p>(b) the spouse or civil partner of any person in (a);</p> <p>(c) any other person in a relationship with a Trustee or Council Member (as applicable) which may reasonably be regarded as equivalent to such a relationship as is mentioned at (a) or (b); or</p> <p>(d) any company, partnership or firm of which a Trustee or Council Member (as applicable) is a paid director, member, partner or employee, or shareholder holding more than 1% of the capital.</p>
1.1.5	<p>“Constitution” the Original Charter, this Supplemental Charter, the Byelaws, the Regulations and any Rules;</p>
1.1.6	<p>“Council” the Council of the RIBA referred to in Article 8 and as constituted from time to time in accordance with the Byelaws;</p>
1.1.7	<p>“Council Member” a member of Council;</p>

- 1.1.8 **“General Meeting”** a meeting of the members of the RIBA;
- 1.1.9 **“Office Holder”** a member of a governance body of the RIBA which is constituted in the Constitution including but not limited to the Board, Council and any committees of the Board and Council;
- 1.1.10 **“Original Charter”** the Charter dated 11 January 1837 (as amended);
- 1.1.11 **“Regulations”** the Regulations of the RIBA made in accordance with the Byelaws, as amended from time to time;
- 1.1.12 **“RIBA” or “Royal Institute”** Royal Institute of British Architects, as incorporated by the Original Charter;
- 1.1.13 **“Rules”** any rules made by the Board or Council under powers conferred by the Byelaws or Regulations or by another body under authority delegated by the Board or Council, regardless of their form and by whatever title given, as amended from time to time;
- 1.1.14 **“Supplemental Charter”** the Supplemental Charter dated 10 February 1971 (as amended); and
- 1.1.15 **“Trustee”** a member of the Board of Trustees.

1.2 Except where the context otherwise requires, words in the singular number only shall include the plural number and words importing persons shall include corporations.

1.3 Any reference to one gender shall include a reference to the other genders.

1.4 Any reference to an enactment includes a reference to that enactment as re-enacted or amended from time to time and to any subordinate legislation made under it.

2. **Objects**

The objects of the Royal Institute are the advancement of Architecture and the promotion of the acquirement of the knowledge of the Arts and Sciences connected therewith.

3. **Powers**

3.1 To further its objects the RIBA may:

3.1.1 grant diplomas, certificates or other forms of recognition;

3.1.2 receive, administer and apply donations, bequests and endowments for prizes, exhibitions, studentships or scholarships or for any general or special object or purpose;

3.1.3 organise and assist in the provision of conferences, courses of instruction, exhibitions, lectures and other educational activities;

- 3.1.4 prepare, publish and distribute instructional matter on any medium;
- 3.1.5 promote, encourage, carry out or commission research, surveys, studies or other work, making the useful results available;
- 3.1.6 alone or with other organisations seek to influence public opinion and make representations to and seek to influence governmental and other bodies and institutions regarding the reform, development and implementation of appropriate policies, legislation and regulations provided that all activities shall be confined to those which an English and Welsh charity may properly undertake;
- 3.1.7 enter into contracts to provide services to or on behalf of other bodies;
- 3.1.8 acquire or rent any property of any kind and any rights or privileges in and over property and construct, maintain, alter and equip any buildings or facilities;
- 3.1.9 dispose of or deal with all or any of its property with or without payment and subject to such conditions as the Board thinks fit (in exercising this power the RIBA must comply as appropriate with the Charities Act 2011);
- 3.1.10 borrow or raise and secure the payment of money for any purpose including for the purposes of investment or of raising funds, including charging property as security for the repayment of money borrowed or as security for a grant or the discharge of an obligation (the RIBA must comply as appropriate with the Charities Act 2011 if it wishes to mortgage land);
- 3.1.11 set aside funds for special purposes or as reserves against future expenditure;
- 3.1.12 invest the RIBA's money not immediately required for its objects in or upon any investments, securities, or property;
- 3.1.13 arrange for investments or other property of the RIBA to be held in the name of a nominee or nominees and pay any reasonable fee required;
- 3.1.14 lend money and give credit to, take security for such loans or credit and guarantee or give security for the performance of contracts by any person;
- 3.1.15 open and operate bank accounts and other facilities for banking and draw, accept, endorse, issue or execute promissory notes, bills of exchange, cheques and other instruments;
- 3.1.16 accept (or disclaim) gifts of money and any other property;
- 3.1.17 raise funds by way of subscription, donation or otherwise;
- 3.1.18 trade in the course of carrying out its objects and carry on any other trade which is not expected to give rise to taxable profits;
- 3.1.19 incorporate and acquire subsidiary companies to carry on any trade;
- 3.1.20 subject to Article 4 (Limitation on private benefits):
 - (a) engage and pay employees, consultants and professional or other advisers; and
 - (b) make reasonable provision for the payment of pensions and other retirement benefits to or on behalf of employees and their spouses and dependants;

- 3.1.21 establish and support or aid in the establishment and support of any other organisations and subscribe, lend or guarantee money or property for charitable purposes;
- 3.1.22 act as trustee of any charitable trust of property (including without limitation any charitable trust of permanent endowment property) held for any of the charitable purposes included in the RIBA's objects and to act as and exercise the powers of a trust corporation;
- 3.1.23 become a member, associate or affiliate of or act as trustee or appoint trustees of any other organisation;
- 3.1.24 undertake and execute charitable trusts;
- 3.1.25 impose restrictions, which may be revocable or irrevocable, on the use of any property of the RIBA, including (without limitation) by creating permanent endowment;
- 3.1.26 amalgamate or merge with or acquire or undertake all or any of the property, liabilities and engagements of any body;
- 3.1.27 co-operate or enter into partnerships or joint ventures with charities, voluntary bodies, statutory authorities and other bodies and exchange information and advice with them;
- 3.1.28 insure the property of the RIBA against any foreseeable risk and take out other insurance policies as are considered necessary by the Board to protect the RIBA;
- 3.1.29 provide indemnity insurance to cover the personal liability of the Trustees, Council Members and other Office Holders in respect of any negligence, default, breach of trust or breach of duty committed by them in relation to the RIBA, in accordance with, and subject to the conditions in, Section 189 of the Charities Act 2011 (provided that in the case of a Council Member or Office Holder who is not a Trustee, the second and third references to "charity trustees" in Section 189(1) shall be treated as references to the Council Members or Office Holders, as applicable); and
- 3.1.30 do all such other lawful things as may further the objects of the RIBA.

4. **Limitation on private benefits**

- 4.1 The income and property of the RIBA shall be applied solely towards the promotion of its objects.

Permitted benefits to members

- 4.2 No part of the income and property of the RIBA may be paid or transferred directly or indirectly by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise by way of profit to any member of the RIBA. This shall not prevent any payment in good faith by the RIBA:
 - 4.2.1 to any member in his, her or its capacity as a beneficiary of the RIBA;
 - 4.2.2 of reasonable and proper remuneration to any member for any goods or services supplied to the RIBA (including services performed by the member under a contract of employment with the RIBA), provided that if such member is a Trustee or Council Member, Articles 4.3 to 4.7 (inclusive) shall apply;
 - 4.2.3 of interest at a reasonable and proper rate on money lent by any member to the RIBA;

- 4.2.4 of any reasonable and proper rent for premises let by any member to the RIBA; and
- 4.2.5 to a member who is also a Trustee, Council Member or a person Connected to a Trustee or a Council Member which is permitted under Articles 4.3, 4.5 or 4.7.

Permitted benefits to Trustees and Council Members and persons Connected to them

4.3 No Trustee or Council Member may:

- 4.3.1 sell goods, services or any interest in land to the RIBA;
- 4.3.2 be employed by, or receive any remuneration from, the RIBA; or
- 4.3.3 receive any other financial benefit from the RIBA;

unless the benefit is:

- (a) permitted under Articles 4.5 or 4.7;
- (b) authorised by the Byelaws; or
- (c) authorised by the court or the Charity Commission.

4.4 In this Article 4, a “financial benefit” means a benefit, direct or indirect, which is either money or has a monetary value.

4.5 A Trustee, Council Member or person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may receive the following benefits from the RIBA:

- 4.5.1 A Trustee or Council Member or person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may receive a benefit from the RIBA in his or her capacity as a beneficiary of the RIBA;
- 4.5.2 A Trustee or Council Member or person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may be reimbursed by the RIBA for, or may pay out of the RIBA’s property, reasonable expenses properly incurred by him or her when acting on behalf of the RIBA;
- 4.5.3 a Trustee or Council Member or person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may be paid reasonable and proper remuneration by the RIBA for any goods or services supplied to the RIBA on the instructions of the Board (excluding, in the case of a Trustee, the service of acting as Trustee and services performed under a contract of employment with the RIBA) provided that, in relation to the Board, this provision and Article 4.7.3 may not apply to more than half of the Trustees in any financial year (and for these purposes this provision shall be treated as applying to a Trustee if it applies to a person who is a person Connected to that Trustee);
- 4.5.4 a Trustee or Council Member or person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may receive interest at a reasonable and proper rate on money lent to the RIBA;
- 4.5.5 a Trustee or Council Member or person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may receive reasonable and proper rent for premises let to the RIBA;
- 4.5.6 the RIBA may pay reasonable and proper premiums in respect of indemnity insurance effected in accordance with Article 3.1.29; and

- 4.5.7 a Trustee or Council Member of the RIBA may receive payment under an indemnity from the RIBA in accordance with the indemnity provisions set out at Article 5.
- 4.6 Where benefits are conferred under Article 4.5 on a Trustee or person Connected to a Trustee, the affected Trustee may not take part in any decision of the Board to approve a specific benefit to that Trustee or a person Connected to him or her (other than in relation to any decision in relation to a benefit under Article 4.5.1 (if the benefit is available generally to the beneficiaries of the RIBA) or under Articles 4.5.2, 4.5.6 or 4.5.7 in relation to which he or she may participate in the decision-making process and may be counted in the quorum and vote unless a majority of the other Trustees participating in the decision-making process decide to the contrary).
- 4.7 A Trustee, Council Member or person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may receive the following benefits from any subsidiary company of the RIBA (being any company in which the RIBA holds more than 50% of the voting rights as a member of the company or has the right to appoint a majority of the board of the company):
- 4.7.1 a Trustee or Council Member or a person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may receive a benefit from any subsidiary company in his or her capacity as a beneficiary of the RIBA or of any subsidiary company;
- 4.7.2 a Trustee or Council Member or a person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may be reimbursed by any subsidiary company for, or may pay out of any subsidiary company's property, reasonable expenses properly incurred by him or her when acting on behalf of any subsidiary company;
- 4.7.3 a Trustee or Council Member or a person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may be paid reasonable and proper remuneration by any subsidiary company for any goods or services supplied to any subsidiary company, with the prior approval of the Board, (excluding, in the case of a Trustee, services performed under a contract of employment with any subsidiary company) provided that, in relation to the Board, this provision and Article 4.5.3 may not apply to more than half of the Trustees in any financial year (and for these purposes this provision shall be treated as applying to a Trustee if it applies to a person Connected to that Trustee);
- 4.7.4 a Trustee or Council Member or a person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may, with the prior approval of the Board, receive interest at a reasonable and proper rate on money lent to any subsidiary company;
- 4.7.5 a Trustee or Council Member or a person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may, with the prior approval of the Board, receive reasonable and proper rent for premises let to any subsidiary company;
- 4.7.6 any subsidiary company may pay reasonable and proper premiums in respect of indemnity insurance for its directors and officers; and
- 4.7.7 a Trustee or Council Member or a person Connected to a Trustee or Council Member may receive payment under an indemnity from any subsidiary company in accordance with the constitution of the relevant subsidiary company;

provided that where benefits are conferred under Article 4.7 on a Trustee or person Connected to a Trustee, the affected Trustee may not take part in any decision of the Board to approve a specific benefit to that Trustee or a person Connected to them under Articles 4.7.3, 4.7.4 or 4.7.5.

5. **Indemnity**

- 5.1 Without prejudice to any indemnity to which a Trustee, Council Member or other Office Holder might otherwise be entitled, the RIBA shall indemnify every Trustee, Council Member and Office Holder of the RIBA in respect of all claims made against them in respect of any liability arising from or in respect of the RIBA, provided that the right of a Trustee, Council Member or Office Holder to an indemnity under this clause shall not extend to any claim arising from wilful fraud or wrongdoing or wrongful omission on his or her part.
- 5.2 No Trustee, Council Member or Office Holder of the RIBA shall be liable for any loss to the RIBA except in relation to loss caused by wilful fraud or wrongdoing or wrongful omission on his or her part.

6. **Membership**

- 6.1 There shall be such categories and sub-categories of members of the RIBA as the Byelaws and Regulations shall prescribe.
- 6.2 The qualifications and criteria, method and terms of admission, suspension, removal and termination, and rights, privileges and obligations of each category and sub-category of membership, and the disciplinary arrangements to which members shall be subject, shall be prescribed in the Byelaws and Regulations.

7. **Board of Trustees**

- 7.1 There shall be a Board of Trustees who are responsible for the management of the RIBA's business and, for such purpose, may exercise all the powers of the RIBA (except those which are exercisable by the members, Council or another body in accordance with the Byelaws).
- 7.2 The Board shall be constituted in such manner, hold office on such terms and for such period, and follow such procedures as are prescribed in the Byelaws and Regulations.
- 7.3 The members of the Board are the charity trustees of the RIBA.

8. **Council**

- 8.1 There shall be a Council which shall have the following principal functions:
- 8.1.1 to be the representative body of the membership of the RIBA;
 - 8.1.2 to provide strategic advice and guidance to the Board; and
 - 8.1.3 to hold the Board to account.
- 8.2 Council shall have the power to appoint and remove members of the Board and such powers and other functions as the Byelaws shall prescribe.
- 8.3 Council shall be constituted in such manner, hold office on such terms and for such period and follow such procedures as are prescribed in the Byelaws and Regulations.

9. **Honorary Officers**

- 9.1 There shall be a President and such other Honorary Officers (as defined in the Byelaws) as the Byelaws shall prescribe.
- 9.2 The President and other Honorary Officers shall have such powers and functions as the Byelaws shall prescribe.
- 9.3 The President and other Honorary Officers shall be elected or appointed by such persons, in such manner, hold office on such terms and for such period, and follow such procedures as are prescribed in the Byelaws and Regulations.

10. **Byelaws**

- 10.1 The Board may make such Byelaws as they deem expedient (including Byelaws conferring power to make Regulations in regard to matters specified therein) and may add to, amend or revoke any Byelaw previously made, provided that:
 - 10.1.1 no Byelaw shall be inconsistent with this Our Supplemental Charter; and
 - 10.1.2 no Byelaw shall confer or be deemed to confer a power to make Regulations which are inconsistent with this Our Supplemental Charter or with the Byelaws.
- 10.2 No addition or amendment to, or revocation of, any Byelaw shall take effect unless and until the same has been:
 - 10.2.1 confirmed by a majority of not less than two-thirds of the Council Members who are entitled to vote and are voting at a Council meeting;
 - 10.2.2 confirmed by a majority of not less than two-thirds of the members of the RIBA who are entitled to vote and are voting at a General Meeting; and
 - 10.2.3 submitted to and approved by the Lords of Our Most Honourable Privy Council of which approval a Certificate under the hand of the Clerk of Our said Privy Council shall be conclusive evidence.
- 10.3 Prior to receiving approval under Article 10.2.3, the Board may make transitional arrangements with the approval of Our said Privy Council, to facilitate the introduction of the proposed additions, amendments or revocations. Such transitional arrangements may involve the suspension or variation of the Byelaws affected.

11. **Amendments to this Our Supplemental Charter**

- 11.1 The Board may add to, amend or revoke any of the provisions of this Our Supplemental Charter.
- 11.2 No addition, amendment or revocation shall take effect unless and until the same has been:
 - 11.2.1 confirmed by a majority of not less than two-thirds of the Council Members who are entitled to vote and are voting at a Council meeting;
 - 11.2.2 confirmed by a majority of not less than two-thirds of the members of the RIBA who are entitled to vote and are voting at a General Meeting; and

11.2.3 allowed by Us, Our Heirs or Successors in Council, upon which allowance this Our Supplemental Charter shall thenceforward continue and operate as if it had been originally granted and made accordingly.

11.3 Prior to receiving approval under Article 11.2.3, the Board may make transitional arrangements with the approval of Our said Privy Council to facilitate the introduction of the proposed additions, amendments or revocations. Such transitional arrangements may involve the suspension or variation of the provisions of the Supplemental Charter affected.

12. **Dissolution**

12.1 The RIBA may, by resolution passed by not less than three-quarters of the members who are entitled to vote and are voting at a General Meeting and subject to the approval of Us, Our Heirs or Successors in Council and upon such terms as We or They may consider fit, surrender the Original Charter and this Our Supplemental Charter and wind up or otherwise deal with the affairs of the RIBA in such manner as shall be directed by those members or, in the absence of any such direction, as the Board with the consent of Council (by a majority of not less than two-thirds of the members of Council who are entitled to vote and are voting at a Council meeting) decides, having due regard to the debts and liabilities of the RIBA for the time being.

12.2 If, on the winding up or dissolution of the RIBA, any property remains after all debts and liabilities have been met, that property shall not be paid to or distributed among the members of the RIBA, or any of them, but shall be transferred to some other charitable organisation or organisations having objects similar to the objects of the RIBA to be determined by the Board with the consent of Council (by a majority of not less than two-thirds of the Council Members who are entitled to vote and are voting at a Council meeting) at or before the time of dissolution.

13. **Savings provision**

13.1 These amendments to the Supplemental Charter and Byelaws shall not affect the validity of anything done under the Supplemental Charter dated 10 February 1971 (as amended on 5 November 2002 and 7 February 2007) (the “**Earlier Supplemental Charter**”) and the Byelaws dated 1 January 2003 (as amended on 29 June 2004, 14 February 2006, 7 February 2007, 26 November 2009 and 25 July 2016) (the “**Earlier Byelaws**”) and all elections, appointments, acts, alliances, agreements, decisions, establishments, resolutions and things made, passed or done under the Earlier Supplemental Charter and the Earlier Byelaws shall continue to take effect from the date on which they previously became or would have become effective.

13.2 The Original Charter so far as unrevoked shall have full effect and validity, and We do hereby confirm the same accordingly.

14. **Validity**

14.1 And We do hereby for Us, Our Heirs and Successors grant and declare that this Our Supplemental Charter shall be in all things valid and effectual in law according to its true intent and meaning and shall be taken, construed and adjudged in all Our Courts and elsewhere in the most favourable and beneficial sense and for the best advantage of the RIBA, any misrecital, non-recital, omission, defect, imperfection notwithstanding.

IN WITNESS whereof We have caused these Our Letters to be made Patent

WITNESS Ourself at Westminster the 10th day of February in the 20th year of Our Reign

Byelaws of The Royal Institute of British Architects

dated 11 March 2020

1. Definitions and interpretation

1.1 The definitions and rules of interpretation set out in the Supplemental Charter apply to these Byelaws.

1.2 In these Byelaws, unless the context otherwise requires, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

	Term	Meaning
1.2.1	“Annual General Meeting”	a General Meeting held in accordance with Byelaw 6.2;
1.2.2	“Audit Committee”	a sub-committee of the Board established in accordance with Byelaw 9.4.1;
1.2.3	“Chair of the Board”	has the meaning given in Byelaw 9.1.13;
1.2.4	“Chartered Member”	a member of the RIBA who has been admitted as an Ordinary Member or a Fellow Member in accordance with Byelaw 2.1.1(a) and the Regulations;
1.2.5	“Chartered Practice”	a business providing architectural services which has been registered as a Chartered Practice in accordance with Byelaw 3.1.1 and the Regulations;
1.2.6	“Chief Executive Officer”	the principal executive officer of the RIBA by whatever title known including any person temporarily carrying out the Chief Executive Officer’s duties;
1.2.7	“Clear Days”	in relation to a period of notice, that period excluding the day when the notice is given or deemed to be given and the day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect;
1.2.8	“Code of Professional Conduct”	the code of conduct which sets out the standards of conduct expected of members of the RIBA;
1.2.9	“Co-opted Trustees”	has the meaning given in Byelaw 9.1.9;
1.2.10	“Council Code of Conduct”	means the code of conduct described in Byelaw 7.3.2;

- 1.2.11 **“Declarations”** the declarations to be made by applicants for membership of the RIBA in accordance with Byelaw 2.2.3;
- 1.2.12 **“Effective Date”** the date on which the amendments to the Supplemental Charter approved by resolution of the Council of the RIBA (as constituted prior to the Effective Date), as confirmed by resolution at a General Meeting on 2 October 2019, take effect by, and in accordance with, an Order of the Queen in Council;
- 1.2.13 **“Electronic Form”** a document or information sent or supplied by Electronic Means (for example, by e-mail or fax) or by any other means while in an electronic form (for example, sending a disk by post);
- 1.2.14 **“Electronic Means”** a document or information (a) sent initially and received at its destination by means of electronic equipment for the processing (which expression includes digital compression) or storage of data, and (b) entirely transmitted, conveyed and received by wire, by radio, by optical means or by other electromagnetic means which may be developed from time to time;
- 1.2.15 **“Ex-officio Trustees”** has the meaning given in Byelaw 9.1.6;
- 1.2.16 **“Fellow Member”** a member of the RIBA who has been admitted to membership within the sub-category of Chartered Members known as “Fellow Members”;
- 1.2.17 **“Financial Expert”** an individual, company or firm who, or which, is authorised to give investment advice under the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000;
- 1.2.18 **“Honorary Fellow”** a member of the RIBA who has been admitted to membership within the sub-category of Non-Chartered Members known as “Honorary Fellows”;
- 1.2.19 **“Honorary Officers”** the President, the Honorary Secretary, the Honorary Treasurer and such other Honorary Officers as are appointed in accordance with Byelaw 8.2;
- 1.2.20 **“Honorary Secretary”** the secretary appointed in accordance with Byelaw

		8.2.1;
1.2.21	“Honorary Treasurer”	the treasurer appointed in accordance with Byelaw 8.2.1;
1.2.22	“Nominations Committee”	a sub-committee of Council established in accordance with Byelaw 7.5.2 and the Regulations;
1.2.23	“Non-Chartered Member”	a member of the RIBA who has been admitted as a Student Member, Associate Member, Affiliate Member or Honorary Fellow in accordance with Byelaw 2.1.1(b) and the Regulations;
1.2.24	“Ordinary General Meeting”	a General Meeting called in accordance with Byelaws 6.4 and 6.11;
1.2.25	“Ordinary Trustees”	has the meaning given in Byelaw 9.1.7;
1.2.26	“President”	the president of the RIBA elected in accordance with Byelaw 8.1.1;
1.2.27	“Public Holiday”	means Christmas Day, Good Friday and any day that is a bank holiday under the Banking and Financial Dealings Act 1971 in England and Wales;
1.2.28	“Remuneration Committee”	a sub-committee of the Board established in accordance with Byelaw 9.4.2 and the Regulations;
1.2.29	“Session”	a period beginning on a date to be determined by the Board in accordance with the Regulations;
1.2.30	“Specialist Practitioner”	an individual whom the Board has registered as a Specialist Practitioner in accordance with Byelaw 3.1 and the Regulations;
1.2.31	“Standards Committee”	a sub-committee of Council established in accordance with Byelaw 7.5.1 and the Regulations;
1.2.32	“Trustee Code of Conduct”	means the code of conduct described in Byelaw 9.1.14; and
1.2.33	“Writing”	the representation or reproduction of words, symbols or other information in a visible form by a method or combination of methods, whether sent or supplied in Electronic Form or otherwise.

1.3 In the event of conflict between the provisions of these Byelaws and the Supplemental Charter, the Supplemental Charter shall prevail.

2. **Membership**

2.1 **Categories of member**

2.1.1 The RIBA shall have the following categories of members:

- (a) Chartered Members comprising Ordinary Members and Fellow Members (as defined in these Byelaws and the Regulations); and
- (b) Non-Chartered Members comprising Student Members, Associate Members, Affiliate Members and Honorary Fellows (as defined in these Byelaws and the Regulations).

2.1.2 The Board may make Regulations dealing with any membership matters including those specified in Article 6.2 of the Supplemental Charter.

2.2 **Admission and transfer**

2.2.1 The members of the RIBA shall be such persons as are admitted to the relevant category of membership by the Board in accordance with these Byelaws and the Regulations.

2.2.2 No person may become a member of the RIBA unless:

- (a) he or she satisfies such professional competency criteria or other criteria as are provided for in respect of the relevant category or sub-category of member in the Regulations;
- (b) he or she is a fit and proper person in accordance with any requirement provided for in the Regulations;
- (c) he or she has applied for membership in the form and manner prescribed in these Byelaws and in the Regulations including by making the Declarations below; and
- (d) the application has been approved in accordance with the Regulations. The Board may in its absolute discretion refuse to admit that person as a member and will give reasons for so doing in Writing.

2.2.3 An applicant for membership of the RIBA must make the following declarations (and, on admission as a member, is treated as having declared and agreed) that they:

- (a) satisfy professional competency and any other criteria prescribed under Byelaw 2.2.2(a);
- (b) are and will continue to be a fit and proper person in accordance with Byelaw 2.2.2(b);
- (c) agree to comply with any lifelong learning requirements that apply to their category of membership in accordance with the Regulations;
- (d) agree to abide by the Constitution and the Code of Professional Conduct; and

- (e) agree to exercise the powers that they have in their capacity as a member in the way that they decide, in good faith, would be most likely to further the objects of the RIBA.

2.2.4 The Board shall maintain a register of all the members of the RIBA which shall include such details as the Board may decide in respect of:

- (a) members;
- (b) persons whose membership has been suspended or terminated; and
- (c) persons who have been re-admitted or re-instated as members or who have transferred between categories or sub-categories of membership.

2.2.5 The members of the RIBA on the Effective Date shall be those members immediately prior to the Effective Date. The members of the RIBA admitted prior to the Effective Date shall be treated as having made the Declarations.

2.3 **Termination of membership**

2.3.1 Membership of the RIBA is not transferable.

2.3.2 A member shall cease to be a member if he or she:

- (a) subject to Byelaw 2.3.3, gives at least seven Clear Days' notice in Writing of his or her intention to resign from membership in accordance with the Regulations;
- (b) has been convicted of an offence to which a custodial sentence of twelve months or more could be imposed if the member was convicted by or before a court in England and Wales;
- (c) is removed as a member in accordance with Byelaw 5 and the Regulations; or
- (d) dies.

2.3.3 A notice of resignation of a member shall not be effective while the conduct of that member is subject to an investigation under Byelaw 5.

2.3.4 On ceasing to be a member, a person shall cease to be entitled to the rights and privileges of membership and to represent an affiliation with the RIBA unless otherwise specified in the Regulations.

2.4 **Privileges of membership**

2.4.1 Members of the RIBA:

- (a) have the right to receive a diploma, provided that diplomas remain the property of the RIBA at all times;
- (b) have the right to use the designations relating to their membership category or sub-category set out in Byelaw 2.5 and in the Regulations;

- (c) are eligible to serve as an Office Holder as further prescribed in these Byelaws and the Regulations in relation to their membership category or sub-category;
- (d) have the right to attend and speak at General Meetings and, in the case of Chartered Members, to vote at General Meetings; and
- (e) have such other rights and privileges as are set out in these Byelaws and the Regulations relating to their membership category or sub-category.

2.4.2 The privileges of membership are personal to the member and are not transferable by the act of the member or by operation of law.

2.5 Designations

2.5.1 Subject to these Byelaws, the Regulations and the provisions of the Architects Act 1997 a Chartered Member has the right to use:

- (a) the affixes 'Member of RIBA', 'Member of the Royal Institute of British Architects' and 'RIBA'; and
- (b) the style 'Chartered Architect' (but may not use any abbreviation of that style).

2.5.2 A Fellow Member may also use the affixes 'Fellow of the Royal Institute of British Architects' or 'FRIBA'.

2.5.3 The Board shall make Regulations relating to the designations which may be used by Non-Chartered Members and Honorary Officers and any other designations and honorary titles which may be used by members of the RIBA and Chartered Practices, and the form and manner in which any designations and honorary titles may be used by members of the RIBA and Chartered Practices from time to time.

3. Chartered Practices and Specialist Practitioners

3.1 The Board may make Regulations dealing with:

- 3.1.1 the procedure for the registration of Chartered Practices and Specialist Practitioners, and their suspension and removal from the register; and
- 3.1.2 eligibility for, conditions of registration as, and privileges of, Chartered Practices and Specialist Practitioners.

3.2 The Board shall maintain a register of Chartered Practices which shall include:

- 3.2.1 details of every architectural practice which the Board has registered as a Chartered Practice;
- 3.2.2 details of Chartered Practices which have been suspended or removed from the register including reasons for the suspension or removal; and
- 3.2.3 details of any Chartered Practices which have been re-instated or re-admitted to the register.

3.3 The Board shall maintain a register of Specialist Practitioners which shall include details of all Specialist Practitioners which it has approved for entry in the register.

4. Subscriptions and other fees

- 4.1 Members of the RIBA, Chartered Practices and Specialist Practitioners shall pay such subscriptions and other fees to the RIBA at such rates as the Board shall determine, subject to Council's consent provided to the Board in Writing.
- 4.2 The Board shall have power to set special levies, subject to Council's consent provided to the Board in Writing.
- 4.3 The Board shall have power to grant concessions or waive subscriptions or other fees, subject to Council's consent provided to the Board in Writing.
- 4.4 The Board may make Regulations dealing with subscriptions and other fees.

5. Conduct

- 5.1 Any member of the RIBA who:
 - 5.1.1 does not satisfy or ceases to satisfy the professional competency and any other criteria prescribed under Byelaw 2.2.2(a);
 - 5.1.2 does not satisfy or ceases to satisfy the requirement to be a fit and proper person in accordance with Byelaw 2.2.2(b);
 - 5.1.3 does not comply with any lifelong learning requirements that apply to their category or sub-category of membership in accordance with the Regulations;
 - 5.1.4 contravenes the Constitution or the Code of Professional Conduct;
 - 5.1.5 fails to exercise the powers that they have in their capacity as a member in a way that would be most likely to further the objects of the RIBA;
 - 5.1.6 fails to pay any subscription or other sum payable by him or her within 30 Clear Days of the date on which it has become due and the Board resolves that he or she should be liable for disciplinary action for this reason; or
 - 5.1.7 has behaved in the opinion of the Board in a manner which is likely to bring the reputation of the RIBA into disrepute
- shall be liable to disciplinary action in accordance with the Regulations which may result in such sanctions as shall be provided for in the Regulations including but not limited to suspension or removal from membership.
- 5.2 Members against whom a charge has been made under Byelaw 5.1 have the right to be heard either in person or through a representative.

6. General Meetings

- 6.1 There shall be two types of General Meeting of the RIBA, namely:
 - 6.1.1 Annual General Meetings; and
 - 6.1.2 Ordinary General Meetings.

- 6.2 The RIBA must hold an Annual General Meeting once in every calendar year at such time and in such place as the Board shall decide.
- 6.3 At each Annual General Meeting, the Chartered Members shall:
- 6.3.1 resolve on the adoption of the annual report and accounts and the appointment of auditors; and
- 6.3.2 consider such other business as the Board shall determine.
- 6.4 The Board may convene an Ordinary General Meeting whenever it thinks fit.
- 6.5 Notice of every General Meeting shall be given to all the members of the RIBA, to the Board and to the auditors of the RIBA not less than 21 Clear Days before the meeting.
- 6.6 The notice shall be in such form and shall be given in such manner as shall be prescribed in the Regulations.
- 6.7 A member present at a General Meeting shall be deemed to have received notice of the meeting and the purposes for which it was called.
- 6.8 An accidental omission to send a notice to one or more members will not invalidate the proceedings of the meeting.
- 6.9 In accordance with Byelaw 2.4.1(d), all members of the RIBA may attend and speak at General Meetings but only Chartered Members may vote.
- 6.10 The Board may permit persons to attend General Meetings by telephone, televisual or other electronic or virtual means in which all participants may communicate simultaneously with other participants.
- 6.11 The Board shall give notice to convene an Ordinary General Meeting to take place within three months of receipt of a valid request to do so.
- 6.12 A request is valid if it:
- 6.12.1 states the general nature of the business to be dealt with at the meeting;
- 6.12.2 is made by not less than 5% of the Chartered Members; and
- 6.12.3 is in hard copy form, signed by those Chartered Members and delivered to the RIBA by hand or post, marked for the attention of the President; or
- 6.12.4 is in Electronic Form, accompanied by a statement of the identity of the Chartered Members making the request (and the RIBA has no reason to doubt the truth of that statement) and delivered to the President's email address.
- 6.13 If the Board does not comply with Byelaw 6.11, the Chartered Members who made the request in accordance with Byelaw 6.12.2 may publish a notice to convene an Ordinary General Meeting on not less than 21 Clear Days' notice.
- 6.14 The meeting must be called in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which General Meetings are required to be called by the Board.

6.15 The Board shall make Regulations dealing with General Meetings including, but not limited to, the procedure at General Meetings.

7. Council

7.1 Powers and functions

7.1.1 Council has the following powers and functions, subject to, and as further prescribed by, these Byelaws and in accordance with the Regulations:

- (a) to set standards of conduct for members of the RIBA including but not limited to by setting the Code of Professional Conduct;
- (b) to have oversight of members' compliance with the Declarations;
- (c) to determine the procedure for dealing with conduct issues under Byelaw 5 including, but not limited to, making Rules dealing with disciplinary procedure;
- (d) to take disciplinary action in respect of members (including, but not limited to, carrying out investigations and suspending and removing members in accordance with Byelaw 5 and the Regulations);
- (e) to establish a Standards Committee in accordance with Byelaw 7.5.1 and delegate the powers set out in Byelaws 7.1.1.(a) to (d) to such committee in accordance with that Byelaw;
- (f) to establish a Nominations Committee in accordance with Byelaw 7.5.2 and delegate the responsibility for making non-binding recommendations in relation to appointments of Council Members, Honorary Officers, Trustees and members of Council committees to the Nominations Committee in accordance with that Byelaw;
- (g) to establish, and set terms of reference for, such other committees and advisory groups as it thinks fit in accordance with Byelaw 7.5.4 and 7.6.1;
- (h) to delegate its power or functions and the implementation of its decisions in accordance with Byelaw 7.4;
- (i) to appoint and remove members of the Board in accordance with Byelaws 9.1.7 and 9.2.3(e) and (f);
- (j) to appoint an Honorary Secretary, an Honorary Treasurer and such other Honorary Officers as it thinks fit and to remove them at any time in accordance with Byelaw 8.2.1 and 8.2.3;
- (k) to set standards of conduct for Council Members including but not limited to by setting the Council Code of Conduct in accordance with Byelaw 7.3.2;
- (l) to remove Council Members in accordance with Byelaws 7.3.4(f) and (g);
- (m) to consider and give or withhold consent to new Regulations, and amendments to existing Regulations, which deal with the following matters in accordance with Byelaw 12.3:

- (i) the professional competency criteria and other criteria required for admission to any membership category or sub-category or as an ongoing condition of membership;
 - (ii) restrictions on members' ability to transfer between categories and sub-categories of membership;
 - (iii) the rights and privileges of membership including but not limited to designations and exceptions;
 - (iv) the conduct of members and disciplinary action in respect of members;
 - (v) the election or appointment and removal, rights and privileges, role and responsibilities and conduct of the President and other Honorary Officers;
 - (vi) the composition (including terms of office) and procedures relating to Council decision-making and conduct of business of Council; and
 - (vii) committees of Council including but not limited to the Standards Committee and the Nominations Committee;
- (n) to propose changes to the Regulations to the Board in relation to the matters specified in Byelaw 7.1.1(m); and
 - (o) to give such consents as are prescribed in the Supplemental Charter and the Byelaws.

7.1.2 Subject to Byelaw 13.1, Council shall not incur any costs or expenses in exercising its powers or otherwise without the Board's prior consent provided to the Council in Writing.

7.2 **Decision-making and conduct of business of Council**

7.2.1 The Board may make Regulations dealing with the decision-making and conduct of business of Council.

7.2.2 Without prejudice to any other right a Trustee may have in another capacity, Trustees are entitled, in their capacity as Trustees, to attend and speak but not vote at meetings of Council or its committees or advisory groups (other than meetings of the Standards Committee), provided that where a Trustee has a personal interest in a matter to be discussed at such meeting (including but not limited to matters relating to his or her conduct, remuneration, removal or re-appointment) he or she may not attend any part of the meeting during which the matter is to be discussed.

7.3 **Composition, appointment, retirement and removal of Council Members**

7.3.1 Council shall comprise such persons as are appointed or elected to Council in accordance with these Byelaws and the Regulations. Council Members shall hold office for the terms specified in these Byelaws and the Regulations. Council shall make decisions and conduct business in such manner as is prescribed in these Byelaws and the Regulations.

7.3.2 Council shall set out the duties that apply to Council Members and the standards of behaviour which Council Members are expected to demonstrate in a Council Code of Conduct and may amend or replace the code from time to time.

7.3.3 Any person who is appointed or elected as a Council Member shall be treated as having agreed to be bound by the Council Code of Conduct.

7.3.4 A Council Member shall cease to be a Council Member when he or she retires at the end of his or her term of office or, if earlier, if:

- (a) he or she resigns by notice in Writing to the President (or to the Honorary Secretary if the President is the Council Member resigning);
- (b) he or she ceases to be a member of the RIBA;
- (c) a registered medical practitioner who is treating the Council Member gives a written opinion to the RIBA stating that he or she has become incapable by reason of mental disorder, illness or injury of managing and administering his or her own affairs;
- (d) he or she is disqualified under the Charities Act 2011 from acting as a trustee of a charity;
- (e) he or she is removed as a Council Member or as an Honorary Officer by the Chartered Members in a General Meeting;
- (f) he or she fails to attend three consecutive meetings of Council and Council resolves that he or she be removed for this reason; or
- (g) he or she is removed by resolution of Council including but not limited to for breach of the Council Code of Conduct. Such a resolution shall not be passed unless the Council Member has been given at least 14 Clear Days' notice that the resolution is to be proposed, specifying the circumstances alleged to justify removal from Council, and has been afforded a reasonable opportunity of either (at his or her option) being heard by or making representations to Council in Writing.

7.3.5 On ceasing to be a Council Member that person shall cease to hold any other office which he or she holds in his or her capacity as Council Member (including but not limited to the office of Honorary Officer, Trustee or member of a Council committee).

7.3.6 For the avoidance of doubt, this Byelaw 7.3 (including Byelaw 7.3.4) applies to all Council Members including, but not limited to, the President and other Honorary Officers.

7.4 **Council's powers to delegate**

7.4.1 Subject to these Byelaws, Council may delegate any of its powers or functions to any committee or to the Board.

7.4.2 Subject to these Byelaws, Council may delegate the implementation of its decisions to any person or committee.

7.4.3 Council may authorise further delegation of the relevant powers, functions or implementation of decisions by the body or person to whom they are delegated.

7.4.4 Council may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms and conditions.

7.5 Council Committees

- 7.5.1 Council shall establish a Standards Committee in accordance with these Byelaws and the Regulations and Council shall delegate the following powers and functions to the Standards Committee:
- (a) to set standards of conduct for members of the RIBA including but not limited to setting the Code of Professional Conduct;
 - (b) to have oversight of members' compliance with the Declarations;
 - (c) to determine the procedure for dealing with conduct issues under Byelaw 5 including, but not limited to, making Rules dealing with disciplinary procedure; and
 - (d) to take disciplinary action in respect of members (including, but not limited to, carrying out investigations and suspending and removing members and issuing other sanctions in accordance with Byelaw 5 and the Regulations).
- 7.5.2 Council shall establish a Nominations Committee in accordance with these Byelaws and the Regulations to make non-binding recommendations for the appointment of Council Members, Honorary Officers, Trustees and members of Council committees.
- 7.5.3 The Standards Committee and the Nominations Committee shall have such other powers and functions as are delegated to it by the Board in the Regulations.
- 7.5.4 Council may establish such other committees as it thinks fit.
- 7.5.5 In the case of Council delegation to committees:
- (a) subject to the Regulations, Council must specify those who shall serve or be asked to serve on the committee (although Council may allow the committee to make co-options up to a specified number);
 - (b) subject to the Regulations, the composition of any committee shall be entirely at the discretion of Council and may include such of their number (if any) as Council may specify;
 - (c) subject to the Regulations, Council must set out the nature of the delegation including the terms and conditions and mandate of any committee in written terms of reference;
 - (d) the deliberations of any committee must be reported regularly to Council (and, in the case of the Nominations Committee, also to the Board) and any resolution passed or decision taken by any committee must be reported promptly to Council (and, in the case of the Nominations Committee, also to the Board) and every committee must appoint a secretary for that purpose; and
 - (e) no committee shall knowingly incur expenditure or liability on behalf of the RIBA except where authorised by Council or in accordance with a budget which has been approved by Council subject to Byelaw 7.1.2.

7.5.6 Subject to the Regulations, the meetings and proceedings of any committee established by Council shall be governed by the provisions of the Byelaws and Regulations regulating the meetings and proceedings of Council unless otherwise provided in written terms of reference.

7.6 **Council advisory groups**

7.6.1 Council may appoint advisory groups which shall comprise such individuals as Council shall determine from time to time.

7.6.2 Council may impose such terms of reference governing the meetings and proceedings of the advisory groups as it may from time to time think fit.

8. **Honorary Officers**

8.1 **President**

8.1.1 The President shall be elected by the members of the RIBA from among the Chartered Members and the Honorary Fellows in accordance with the Regulations. A serving President may not be a candidate.

8.1.2 The President is the chair of Council and is an Ex-officio Trustee.

8.2 **Other Honorary Officers**

8.2.1 At the first meeting of Council following the commencement of a new Session, Council shall appoint an Honorary Secretary and an Honorary Treasurer from among the Chartered Members.

8.2.2 The Honorary Secretary and the Honorary Treasurer shall be Ex-officio Trustees.

8.2.3 Subject to the Regulations, Council may, from time to time, appoint such other Honorary Officers (who shall not be Ex-officio Trustees but may be appointed as Trustees) as it thinks fit from among the Council Members and Chartered Members.

8.2.4 Subject to the Regulations, if a person to be appointed as an Honorary Officer is not a Council Member at the time at which the appointment is made, that person shall automatically be appointed as a Council Member.

8.2.5 The Board may make Regulations dealing with the election or appointment and removal, rights and privileges, role and responsibilities and conduct of the President and other Honorary Officers.

9. **Board of Trustees**

9.1 **Appointment of trustees**

9.1.1 There shall be at least three and no more than twelve Trustees.

9.1.2 A majority of the Board shall be Council Members. Trustees may, but are not required to be, Chartered Members.

- 9.1.3 So long as there are fewer than three Trustees none of the powers or discretions conferred on the Board by the Constitution or by law shall be exercisable except for the power to co-opt new Trustees.
- 9.1.4 In the event that the number of Trustees who are Council Members falls below the majority required under Byelaw 9.1.2, the powers and discretions conferred on the Board in the Constitution or by law shall continue to be exercisable by the Board.
- 9.1.5 No person may become a Trustee (in any category):
- (a) unless he or she has attained 18 years; or
 - (b) in circumstances such that, had he or she already been a Trustee, he or she would have been disqualified from acting under the provisions of these Byelaws.
- 9.1.6 The President, the Honorary Secretary and the Honorary Treasurer for the time being shall be Trustees ex officio (the “Ex-officio Trustees”).
- 9.1.7 Council shall appoint up to nine other individuals to be Trustees (the “Ordinary Trustees”) by serving notice in Writing on the Board.
- 9.1.8 When appointing Trustees:
- (a) Council may consider:
 - (i) such guidance as may be issued by the Charity Commission from time to time on the selection and appointment of trustees;
 - (ii) such qualifications and criteria as the Board may recommend;
 - (iii) the need for the Board to have an appropriate balance of skills, knowledge, diversity and experience; and
 - (iv) the objects of the RIBA.
 - (b) Council shall consider, but shall not be bound to follow, any recommendations of the Nominations Committee and the Chair of the Board.
- 9.1.9 The Board may appoint up to two Trustees (“Co-opted Trustees”) (who may, but are not required to be, Council Members notwithstanding Byelaw 9.1.2 and may, but are not required to be Chartered Members) without the prior approval of Council if:
- (a) the number of Trustees falls below the minimum number of Trustees required by Byelaw 9.1.1;
 - (b) the Board has given Council notice in Writing of the need to make an appointment or appointments for this reason; and
 - (c) Council has failed to appoint sufficient additional Trustees within five Clear Days of the notice.
- 9.1.10 Ordinary Trustees and Co-opted Trustees shall hold office for an initial term of up to three years, renewable by re-appointment for further terms of up to three years provided that a

Trustee in any category (whether an Ordinary Trustee, Co-opted Trustee or Ex-officio Trustee) who has served a continuous term of six years shall remain out of office for at least one year before he or she may be re-appointed as a Trustee.

- 9.1.11 For the avoidance of doubt, a Trustee may at the end of his or her term be re-appointed in another capacity whether as an Ordinary Trustee, Co-opted Trustee or Ex-officio Trustee subject to the maximum term set out in Byelaw 9.1.10.
- 9.1.12 All acts done by a person acting as a Trustee shall, even if afterwards discovered that there was a defect in his or her appointment or that he or she was disqualified from holding office or had vacated office, be as valid as if such person had been duly appointed and was qualified and had continued to be a Trustee.
- 9.1.13 The Trustees shall appoint one of their number to be the Chair of the Board having sought and considered any recommendations of the Nominations Committee for such term of office as they determine and may at any time remove him or her from that office.
- 9.1.14 The Board shall set out the duties that apply to Trustees and the standards of behaviour which Trustees are expected to demonstrate in a Trustee Code of Conduct and may amend or replace such code from time to time.
- 9.1.15 All Trustees shall be treated as having agreed to be bound by the Trustee Code of Conduct.
- 9.1.16 The President, Honorary Treasurer and Honorary Secretary in post immediately prior to the Effective Date shall be the first Trustees.

9.2 **Cessation of Trusteeship**

- 9.2.1 An Ex-officio Trustee automatically ceases to hold office as Trustee on the cessation of the office by virtue of which he or she became a Trustee.
- 9.2.2 An Ordinary Trustee or Co-opted Trustee automatically ceases to hold office as Trustee at the end of his or her term of office.
- 9.2.3 A Trustee (whether an Ordinary Trustee, Co-opted Trustee or Ex-officio Trustee) shall cease to hold office as Trustee if he or she:
 - (a) resigns by notice in Writing to the Chair of the Board (or to the Honorary Secretary if the Chair of the Board is the Trustee resigning) but only if at least three Trustees will remain in office when the notice of resignation is to take effect;
 - (b) ceases to be a Council Member or Honorary Officer where he or she was appointed as a Trustee in his or her capacity as Council Member or Honorary Officer;
 - (c) is disqualified under the Charities Act 2011 from acting as a Trustee;
 - (d) a registered medical practitioner who is treating the Trustee gives a written opinion to the RIBA stating that he or she has become incapable by reason of mental disorder, illness or injury of managing and administering his or her own affairs;

- (e) fails to attend three consecutive meetings of the Board and Council resolves that he or she be removed for this reason; or
- (f) is removed by resolution of Council including, but not limited to, for breach of the Trustee Code of Conduct. Such a resolution shall not be passed unless the Trustee has been given at least fourteen Clear Days' notice in Writing that the resolution is to be proposed, specifying the circumstances alleged to justify removal from office, and has been afforded a reasonable opportunity of either (at his or her option) being heard by or making representations to Council in Writing.

9.2.4 On a person ceasing to be a Trustee:

- (a) that person shall cease to hold any other office which he or she holds in his or her capacity as Trustee (including but not limited to as a member of a committee of the Board); and
- (b) the Board must notify the Council in Writing within fourteen Clear Days of the person ceasing to be a Trustee (other than where Council removes him or her under Byelaw 9.2.3(e) or (f)).

9.3 **Board's powers to delegate**

9.3.1 Subject to these Byelaws, the Board may delegate any of its powers or functions to any committee.

9.3.2 Subject to these Byelaws, the Board may delegate any of its powers or functions to Council, including by Regulations.

9.3.3 Subject to these Byelaws, the Board may delegate the implementation of its decisions or day to day management of the affairs of the RIBA to any person or committee.

9.3.4 The Board may authorise further delegation of the relevant powers, functions, implementation of decisions or day to day management by the body or person to whom they are delegated.

9.3.5 The Board may revoke any delegation in whole or part, or alter its terms and conditions.

9.3.6 The Board may by power of attorney or otherwise appoint any person to be the agent of the RIBA for such purposes and on such conditions as it determines.

9.4 **Committees of the Board**

9.4.1 The Board shall establish an Audit Committee in accordance with these Byelaws and the Regulations which shall report to the Board and to Council.

9.4.2 The Board shall establish a Remuneration Committee in accordance with these Byelaws and the Regulations which shall report to the Board and, in relation to the remuneration of the President, to Council.

9.4.3 The Board may establish such other committees as it thinks fit.

9.4.4 In the case of the Board's delegation to committees:

- (a) subject to the Regulations, Council must specify those who shall serve or be asked to serve on the committee (although Council may allow the committee to make co-options up to a specified number);
- (b) subject to the Regulations, the composition of any committee shall be entirely at the discretion of the Board and may include such of their number (if any) as the Board may specify;
- (c) the Board must set out the nature of the delegation including the terms and conditions and mandate of any committee in the Regulations or in written terms of reference; and
- (d) the deliberations of any committee must be reported regularly to the Board (and in the case of the Audit Committee, to Council) and any resolution passed or decision taken by any committee must be reported promptly to the Board (and in the case of the Audit Committee, to Council) and every committee must appoint a secretary for that purpose;
- (e) no committee shall knowingly incur expenditure or liability on behalf of the RIBA except where authorised by the Board or in accordance with a budget which has been approved by the Board.

9.4.5 Subject to the Regulations, the meetings and proceedings of any committee shall be governed by the provisions of the Byelaws and Regulations regulating the meetings and proceedings of Trustees unless otherwise provided in written terms of reference.

9.5 **Delegation of investment management**

9.5.1 The Board may delegate the management of investments to a Financial Expert or Financial Experts provided that:

- (a) the investment policy is set down in Writing for the Financial Expert or Financial Experts by the Board;
- (b) timely reports of all transactions are provided to the Board;
- (c) the performance of the investments is reviewed regularly with the Board;
- (d) the Board is entitled to cancel the delegation arrangement at any time;
- (e) the investment policy and the delegation arrangements are reviewed regularly;
- (f) all payments due to the Financial Expert or Financial Experts are on a scale or at a level which is agreed in advance; and
- (g) the Financial Expert or Financial Experts must not do anything outside the powers of the Board.

9.6 **Chief Executive Officer**

9.6.1 The Board may appoint a Chief Executive Officer for such term, upon such conditions and by such process as it thinks fit and may delegate the day to day management of the RIBA to the Chief Executive Officer.

9.6.2 In the case of delegation of the day to day management of the RIBA to the Chief Executive Officer:

- (a) the delegated power shall be to manage the RIBA by implementing the policy and strategy adopted by, and within a budget approved by, the Board and (if applicable) to advise the Board in relation to such policy, strategy and budget;
- (b) the Board shall provide the Chief Executive Officer with a description of his or her role and the extent of his or her authority; and
- (c) the Chief Executive Officer must report regularly to the Board on the activities undertaken in managing the RIBA and provide it regularly with management accounts which are sufficient to explain the financial position of the RIBA.

9.7 **Advisory groups of the Board**

9.7.1 The Board may appoint advisory groups which shall comprise such individuals as the Board shall determine from time to time.

9.7.2 The Board may impose such terms of reference governing the meetings and proceedings of the advisory groups as it may from time to time think fit.

9.8 **Decision-making by Trustees**

9.8.1 The Board may make Regulations dealing with decision-making and the conduct of business by the Board.

10. **Regional and international governance**

10.1 The Board may establish, and make Regulations dealing with, regional, national and international divisions, branches and chapters of the RIBA.

10.2 The RIBA may affiliate with any other organisation on such terms as the Board thinks fit including but not limited to:

- (a) the Royal Incorporation of Architects in Scotland; and
- (b) the Royal Society of Ulster Architects.

11. **Common Seal**

11.1 The Board shall provide for the safe custody of the Common Seal of the RIBA which shall be used only with the authority of the Board and in accordance with the Regulations.

12. **Regulations**

12.1 The Board may from time to time make such Regulations in relation to such matters as it thinks fit in relation to the management of the RIBA and its affairs in addition to the matters specified in these Byelaws.

12.2 A power to make Regulations in these Byelaws includes a power to add to, amend or revoke such Regulations.

12.3 The Board may only make the Regulations dealing with the matters specified in Byelaw 7.1.1(m) with the prior consent in Writing of Council.

12.4 In the event of conflict between the provisions of the Regulations and these Byelaws, the Byelaws shall prevail.

12.5 The Regulations approved by the Council of the RIBA (as constituted prior to the Effective Date) as the Regulations shall be the Regulations and shall remain in force unless and until they are added to, amended or revoked under and in accordance with the preceding paragraphs of this Byelaw.

13. Expenses, remuneration and benefits

13.1 The RIBA may defray any reasonable and proper expenses incurred by the Board, Council Members or Office Holders acting as such in accordance with any expenses policy published by the Board from time to time.

13.2 The RIBA may pay such reasonable annual amounts to the President as the Board may from time to time determine, having considered the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee, provided that the Regulations dealing with the management of conflicts of interest must be complied with by the President in relation to decisions regarding any such payments.

14. Accounts, annual report and auditors

14.1 The Board shall ensure that proper books of account are kept in compliance with relevant accounting standards and lay before each Annual General Meeting accounts for the previous financial year containing an income and expenditure account and a balance sheet, with the auditors' report on those accounts.

14.2 Copies of the annual report and accounts and any other document required by law to be annexed or attached thereto or to accompany the same shall be sent to all persons entitled to receive notice of General Meetings (including the auditors) not less than 21 Clear Days before the Annual General Meeting.

14.3 The auditors, who must be a firm of registered auditors under the Companies Act 2006, shall be appointed annually at the Annual General Meeting. The Board shall have the power to appoint auditors to fill a casual vacancy, if necessary, but such appointment shall only apply until the next Annual General Meeting.

14.4 The auditors shall be entitled to receive notice of and attend every general meeting.

15. Communications by the RIBA

15.1 Notices to members or any other person entitled to receive such notices under the Constitution may be given by post, Electronic Means or by means of the RIBA's website (provided, in the latter case, that all relevant persons are alerted to the fact that, in a particular case or cases, notice will be given by this means) and may be included with, or be part of, a publication of the RIBA.

15.2 Every member of the RIBA shall from time to time notify the Chief Executive Officer of a postal address (which is his or her registered address) and his or her electronic mailing

address (if any) and unless and until he or she has so notified his or her registered address he or she shall not be entitled to receive any notice of General Meetings.

15.3 Where a notice, document or information is to be provided to a Council Member, Trustee or any other person in accordance with the Constitution, such notice, document or information may be provided by post to his or her registered address or by Electronic Means to an electronic mailing address.

15.4 Every Council Member and Trustee shall from time to time notify the President and the Chair of the Board respectively of a postal address (which is his or her registered address) and his or her electronic mailing address (if any).

15.5 Where any notice, document or information is sent by the RIBA:

15.5.1 by post, it is deemed to have been received 48 hours (including Saturdays, Sundays and Public Holidays) after it was posted;

15.5.2 by Electronic Means, it is deemed to have been received on the same day that it was sent;

15.5.3 by means of a website, it is deemed to have been received:

(a) when the material was first made available on the website; or

(b) if later, when the recipient received (or is deemed to have received) notice of the fact that the material was available on the website.

15.6 Where any notice, document or consent is required to be given to the Board in Writing, such notice, document or consent may be provided to the Chair of the Board and where any notice, document or consent is required to be given to Council in Writing, such notice, document or consent may be provided to the President.

16. **Governing law and jurisdiction**

16.1 The Constitution shall be governed by the laws of England and Wales and shall be subject to the exclusive jurisdiction of the courts of England and Wales.